RECEIVED

Nov 04 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARK R. VOLSTROMER,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000676

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In this self-defense case, did the trial court err in refusing to allow the defendant and his wife to inform the jury of their knowledge of the decedent's conviction for criminal sexual conduct and that the decedent had been hanging around with a man who molested the defendant's daughter which was relevant to the jury's assessment of the defendant's state of mind and the reasonableness of his actions?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 11, 2016, appellant Mark Robert Volstromer was indicted in Richland County for murder. R. 934. On June 14, 2021, appellant was tried before the Honorable Deandra G. Benjamin and a jury. R. 1. April W. Sampson, Stephanie Taylor, and Samuel C. McGlothin represented the State. R. 1. Aimee J. Zmroczek and Sarah M. Austin represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 914, l. 23 – 968, l. 8. Judge Benjamin sentenced appellant to thirty-five years' imprisonment. R. 923, l. 3 – 6. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial judge's decision is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 535 S.E.2d 431 (2000).

ARGUMENT

In this self-defense case, the trial court erred in refusing to allow the defendant and his wife to inform the jury of their knowledge of the decedent's conviction for criminal sexual conduct and that the decedent had been hanging around with a man who molested the defendant's daughter, which was relevant to the jury's assessment of the defendant's state of mind and the reasonableness of his actions.

Introduction

Mark Volstromer's security system captured the audio and video of this shooting. (State's Ex. 46). While it captured the shooting and the decedent screaming, "I am the Devil," it did not capture the whole story of the decedent's threats and harassment of the Volstromers over the previous months. Nor did the jury get to know the whole story behind this shooting because the state successfully kept them from hearing that the Volstromers knew the decedent had a conviction for criminal sexual conduct and was hanging around with a man who molested the Volstromers' daughter when she was very young. R. 473, l. 9 – 475, l. 10.

Keith Pruitt Moves into the Volstromers' Neighborhood

Mark Volstromer ("Mark") lived on his property in rural Richland County since 1995. R. 669, l. 8 – 11. Mark owned a garage door installation business that he ran with his wife, Barbara Volstromer ("Barbara"). R. 667, l. 19 – 668, l. 20. Mark and Barbara had one child, KV, who was sixteen and lived with them. R. 556, l. 2 – 7.

At the beginning of 2015, the decedent Keith "Lanny" Pruitt ("Pruitt") moved into the neighborhood. R. 560, l. 16 – 561, l. 8. The first time the Volstromers met Pruitt, he came into their home with a beer in his hand and said he was going to cut down their trees. R. 561, l. 9 – 13. In front of Mark, he started calling Barbara "darling and sweetheart." R. 678, l. 14 – 22. Barbara

asked Mark to escort Pruitt out. R. 678, l. 14 – 22. Pruitt told Mark he need to put Barbara in her place. R. 605, l. 22 – 606, l. 1. Mark then learned that Pruitt used to be a Green Beret. R. 679, l. 5 – 14.

In February 2015, Barbara heard a commotion and went outside. R. 564, l. 24 – 565, l. 19. Pruitt was yelling and he and Barbara squabbled over Pruitt's dog. R. 565, l. 14 – 24. Pruitt told Barbara, "Come over here so I can hit you." R. 565, l. 21 – 24. Pruitt's dog came through the Volstromers' fence, jumped on Barbara, and fractured her ribs. R. 566, l. 3 – 9.

The Volstromers' property bordered on a church and in May 2015, they noticed a truck often parked in the church's lot. R. 566, l. 17 – 567, l. 20. The Volstromers walked over to the church's lot to get the license tag from the truck. R. 566, l. 17 – 567, l. 20. Pruitt came out holding a beer and yelled, "I'm the devil." R. 566, l. 17 – 567, l. 20. He told the Volstromers, "I'm going to rain hell down on you. You don't know who you are dealing with." R. 566, l. 17 – 567, l. 20. Barbara described him as "crazy." R. 566, l. 17 – 567, l. 20. They called the police and made a report. R. 567, l. 21 – 24.

The Volstromers were frightened enough that they installed a security system with cameras and a microphone. R. 571, l. 12 – 22. The system recorded twenty-four hours a day. R. 571, l. 12 – 22. The man who installed their system said nobody had ever asked for a microphone system except for the Volstromers. R. 513, l. 2 – 8.

In July 2015, Mark was playing in his yard with his grandson. R. 685, l. 5 – 689, l. 2. Mark looked up and saw Pruitt sitting in his work van. R. 685, l. 5 – 689, l. 2. Mark took his grandson into the house after Pruitt threatened him. R. 685, l. 5 – 689, l. 2. Mark described the threat as "distasteful" and "worrisome." R. 685, l. 5 – 689, l. 2.

In September 2015, the Volstromers called the police because people were riding four-wheelers down the dirt road beside their house shining floodlights into their cameras. R. 571, l. 23 – 572, l. 16. Pruitt again told Barbara she did not know who she was dealing with. R. 572, l. 11 – 22. The Volstromers decided to move. R. 573, l. 8 – 16. R. 698, l. 12 – 19.

In early December 2015, more floodlights were shown into the Volstromers' house. R. 576, l. 11 – 578, l. 8. Screenshots from the security system showed the lights from the vehicles. (Def. Ex. 25-30). On December 20, 2015, somebody rode by their house and said, "Die." R. 579, l. 15 – 19. The defense entered the video of this incident captured by the security system. (Def. Ex. 19). Mark heard gunshots the same night and that video was also entered into evidence. R. 694, l. 9 – 22. (Def. Ex. 20).

In 2006, before Pruitt moved into the neighborhood, Mark was attacked by dogs. R. 671, l. 19 – 673, l. 12. Mark bought a handgun because of the dog attack. R. 675, l. 6 – 7. He also took a concealed weapons permit class. R. 676, l. 8 – 10. Mark never fired the handgun before the shooting of decedent on December 27, 2015. R. 677, l. 13 – 25.

The Shooting

On the day of the shooting, the Volstromers had been watching the Carolina Panthers football game. R. 584, l. 1 – 16. Barbara went outside to take some pictures because she had a yard man coming the next day. R. 585, l. 20 – 586, l. 7. Mark stayed inside with their daughter. R. 585, l. 20 – 586, l. 7. Barbara took her gun and her camera. R. 587, l. 13 – 15.

The Volstromers' cameras and microphone captured their encounter with Pruitt and another man, Rick Holten ("Holten"). (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). The defendant's video expert combined two camera angles, the audio, and zoomed in on a single video Defendant's Ex. 24. R. 521, l. 16 – 22. The Court will notice that some of the action unfortunately happens behind a

watermark that says “CH1” which cannot be removed. R. 523, l. 9 – 16. (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). When the video begins, Barbara can be seen leaning on their white fence to the left of the CH1 watermark. (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24).

Holten¹ drives a truck down the dirt road and stops beside Barbara. (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Pruitt is in the passenger seat. (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Holten and Barbara begin to argue about the property line. (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Pruitt tells Barbara it is not her property. (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Holten tells Barbara the fence she is leaning on belongs to him and that when he gets ready to clear “this fucking road,” the fence would need to be moved forty-five feet from the center of the road. (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24).

Holten tells Barbara, “I own this.” (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). She responds, “You don’t own a goddamn thing.” (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Holten says, “You full of shit, bitch.” (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Pruitt tells Barbara, “You are a pretty woman.” (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). They continue to exchange words and profanities. (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24).

Mark comes out of the house and responds, “No you don’t” to Holten’s assertion that he owns their property. (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Barbara backs away from the fence and Pruitt gets out of the truck and walks to the tailgate. (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Mark tells Pruitt, “Walk over here bud.” (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24).

Pruitt says, “I don’t want on your property. You know what I told you last time you talked to me?” (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). “Remember. The road right there. You want the Devil? You got him.” (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). “You think you a bad ass come over here?” (State’s Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24).

¹ Holten died from unrelated causes before the trial. R. 46, l. 11 – 16.

Pruitt opens a white cooler in the back of the truck. (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). He reaches into the cooler and then puts his hand behind his back. (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Pruitt starts walking toward Mark and says, "I got something for you." (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Pruitt opens his arms wide, saying, "I love it. Because I am the Devil." (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Barbara says that Rick needs to take Pruitt away and Pruitt responds, "Yeah, he needs to take me away, you know why?"

Barbara continues to scream at Pruitt about the property. Pruitt says, "This ain't yours." (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Mark takes his handgun out of his back pocket. (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Pruitt says, "What you gonna do with that?" Mark responds, "I'm done." (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Mark fires one time and Pruitt falls. (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Holten drives off. (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Pruitt died nearly instantaneously from the gunshot wound and was dead when the paramedics arrived. R. 154, l. 14 – 18. The time from the beginning of the recording to the shooting is approximately three-and-one-half minutes. (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24).

Mark goes into the house and Barbara calls 911. (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Pruitt's wife and Holten come back to Pruitt's body. (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Barbara continues to exchange words with the crowd forming and reminds them that everything is being recorded. (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24). Holten bends down and could have removed something from Pruitt's body. (State's Ex. 46) (Def. Ex. 24).

Neither Mark nor Barbara saw Pruitt with a weapon, but the hospital removed a knife from Pruitt's body. R. 461, l. 19 – 24. Mark testified that he thought when Pruitt reached into the cooler, he put something in his back pocket. R. 703, l. 14 – 19. Mark also thought he saw Pruitt put his hand behind his back while saying he was the Devil and that he "had something" for Mark.

R. 704, l. 7 – 14. Mark said, “Well, he had something on him. I’m sure he had a gun on him. He had to have.” R. 704, l. 17 – 20. The police never looked into the truck, claiming problems with chain of custody because it left the scene of the shooting and went a short ways down the road to the Pruitts’ house. R. 357, l. 13 - 358, l. 20. Pruitt was a convicted felon and his wife said he did not have any guns, but she owned somewhere between three and ten guns. R. 778, l. 4 – 779, l. 14.

Barbara testified that before Mark came, that she drew her own gun. R. 595, l. 22 – 596, l. 16. When she tried to cock it, she dropped the gun. R. 595, l. 22 – 596, l. 16. She then heard Mark shoot. R. 595, l. 22 – 596, l. 16. Barbara said she felt “terrorized” and that she thought Pruitt was going to come after her and that she was going to die. R. 602, l. 14 – 20. She said, “I was deathly afraid of that man.” R. 603, l. 4 – 8. Mark said, “It was either him or us. I mean, I was scared sh—like I said, I was pretty scared.” R. 705, l. 3 – 7.

The Volstromers’ Knowledge of Pruitt’s Prior Conviction

The Volstromers knew that Pruitt had been convicted of “second degree felony sexual offense, which is—which is rape.” R. 536, l. 13 – 16. Barbara’s testimony about what they knew of Pruitt’s conviction was proffered in camera. After Pruitt told them, “You don’t know who you are dealing with,” Barbara researched Pruitt in the available county records. R. 535, l. 14 – 536, l. 16. She saw that Pruitt was a sexual offender. R. 535, l. 14 – 536, l. 16. When asked why this was important to her, Barbara responded, “Because my daughter was sexually abused when she was four years old.” R. 536, l. 13 – 19. Barbara can be heard mentioning Pruitt’s criminal history on the 911 call. R. 464, l. 11 – 25.

Defense counsel submitted a written motion seeking to introduce the Volstromers’ knowledge of Pruitt’s prior conviction pursuant to Rules 404(a)(2) and 405(b), SCRE. R. 925,

928 (Court's Ex. 2, 3). Pruitt was convicted of Criminal Sexual Conduct in the second degree in 1989. Pruitt also had a conviction for Assault of a High and Aggravated Nature from 2000, but the Volstromers did not know about that conviction at the time of the shooting.² R. 925, 928 (Court's Ex. 2, 3).

The State argued the CSC conviction was too remote and not closely connected. R. 467, l. 4 – 468, l. 25. The State also argued there was no sexual component to the encounter with Pruitt. R. 467, l. 4 – 468, l. 25. Appellant argued:

So it will come out that victim's [sic] 16-year-old daughter was molested when she was a younger by a neighbor and that neighbor recently moved back into the neighborhood and was hanging out with Mr. Pruitt. He was sort of part of this group. So they—this is all going to the Defendant's state of mind and their fears.

R. 473, l. 9 – 16. A police report was on file, but because of their daughter's youth, the Volstromers elected not to prosecute the neighbor. R. 474, l. 22 – 475, l. 3. Defense counsel said that the neighbor had subsequently been convicted involving other victims. R. 475, l. 1 – 3. She stated, "[T]his is going to the Defendant and his family's state of mind and their fears, and this man is convicted of a violent crime of a sexual nature, which they have already been victims of." R. 475, l. 6 – 10. She linked Pruitt's conviction to him taking photographs of the Volstromers' daughter. R. 477, l. 14 – 20. She also linked Pruitt's conviction to him telling Barbara that she was a pretty woman from the truck on the day of the shooting.³ R. 477, l. 2 – 6.

The judge indicated that she would not allow testimony about the CSC conviction, but would allow the defense to proffer Barbara's testimony the next morning. R. 479, l. 12 – 480, l. 12. Judge Benjamin said she probably would have admitted testimony of the assault conviction if

² Appellant is not challenging the trial judge's ruling regarding this conviction.

³ Trial counsel quotes Pruitt as saying he thinks Barbara is cute, but appellate counsel's interpretation of the audio is that he tells Barbara she is a pretty woman.

the Volstromers knew about it, but reasoned that the CSC was not admissible because it was “a different kind of assault” and there was “no sexual allegation here.” R. 479, l. 12 – 480, l. 15. The court also said it was not necessary for Barbara to testify about her daughter being assaulted, but defense counsel responded, “That is why they feel like they need to protect themselves against these particular neighbors.” R. 481, l. 12 – 19. The next morning, Judge Benjamin stated she thought she had already ruled before Barbara’s testimony was proffered. R. 528, l. 25 – 529, l. 10. After the proffer, Judge Benjamin affirmed her prior ruling, stating, “It is too remote. There is no connection.” R. 546, l. 13 – 547, l. 19.

Legal Discussion

In order to accurately assess the state of mind and the reasonableness of Mark’s actions, the jury needed to hear about the Volstromers’ knowledge of Pruitt’s prior sexual assault conviction, especially given that their daughter was molested by a current associate of Pruitt’s. The jury could not understand the context of the video of the shooting without knowing this critical piece of information that was in Mark and Barbara’s minds. The trial court erred in accepting the State’s argument and keeping this vital information from the jury.

Rule 404(a)(2) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence states, in relevant part: “Evidence of a person’s character or trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion, except . . . Evidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by an accused. . . .” Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE. “In cases in which character or a trait of character of a person is an essential element of a charge, claim, or defense, proof may also be made of specific instances of that person’s conduct.” Rule 405(b), SCRE. Rape is a crime of violence and Pruitt’s CSC conviction is “a pertinent trait” offered by the accused. The CSC conviction was also specifically pertinent given Pruitt’s photographing the Volstromers’

daughter, her abuse at the hands of Pruitt's associate, and his sexual comment made to Barbara before he got out of the truck. Pruitt's unprovoked comments about being "the Devil" certainly called this association into the Volstromers' mind during the short, intense confrontation.

In a case decided long before the adoption of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, the Supreme Court announced the basic test for admission of specific prior instances of violence by a decedent in a self-defense case:

The rule has long been established in this State that evidence of other specific instances of violence on the part of the deceased are not admissible unless they were directed against the defendant, or, if directed against others, were so closely connected in point of time or occasion with the homicide as reasonably to indicate the state of mind of the deceased at the time of the homicide, or to produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm.

State v. Amburgey, 206 S.C. 426, 429, 34 S.E.2d 779, 780 (1945) (internal citations omitted). This rule was cited with approval in 1996, in State v. Brown, 321 S.C. 184, 467 S.E.2d 922 (1996), and in 2000, in State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 535 S.E.2d 431 (2000).

Nothing in the Brown opinion indicates that the defendant had personal knowledge of the decedent's prior conviction for manslaughter. The Brown Court ruled that the twenty-three year-old conviction was properly excluded because it was too remote. In Day, nothing indicates that the defendant knew of the prior instance of violence at the time of the shooting in self-defense, but the Court held that it was error to exclude it because it was relevant to the reasonableness of Day's apprehension of violence from the decedent. The violent conduct was not directed at Day and occurred four months before the shooting.

State v. Mekler, 368 S.C. 1, 626 S.E.2d 890 (Ct. App. 2005), affirmed 379 S.C. 12, 664 S.E.2d 477 (2008), best applies to Volstromer's case because the defendant knew about the prior bad acts. The decedent in Mekler was Bubba, the husband of Mekler's friend, Robette. Mekler at 3-5, 626 S.E.2d at 891. Mekler testified that she was aware that Bubba had been convicted of