RECEIVED
Nov 07 2022
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000676

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

MARK ROBERT VOLSTROMER,.....APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103135

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

1701 Main Street PO Box 192
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 576-1800

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court properly excluded the victim's twenty-six-year-old CSC 2nd conviction because it was too remote in time to be relevantly connected to the murder: a crime with no sexual component whatsoever. It would only serve to confuse the jury.

This is a case about boundaries. Societal, legal, and physical property line boundaries. It is a case about a man who took matters into his own hands and crossed a legal boundary by taking a loaded weapon to a word fight and shooting a man out of anger with no legal justification. Appellant argues the trial court erred by excluding the victim's twenty-six-year-old criminal sexual conduct second degree conviction because it was relevant to show his state of mind: why he felt he had to shoot the victim. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is without merit. The conviction was far too attenuated to be relevant. The prior conviction did not involve the Volstromers and was too far removed from the time of the incident to be used to show conforming conduct. The murder at hand had absolutely no sexual component to it. This Court should affirm the trial court.

*A. Arguments at Trial: Rules 404(a)(2) & 405(b), SCRE:
R. 447-448, R. 463-480, & R. 528-529*

Rule 404(a)(2): (a) Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purposes of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion, except:
(2) Evidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by the accused.

Rule 405(b): Methods of Proving Character – (b) Specific Instances of Conduct. In cases in which character or a trait of character of a person is an essential element of a charge, claim, or defense, proof may also be made of specific instances of that person's conduct.

The State moved to exclude the victim's prior record before the June 2021 trial began. During their argument, the defense responded by maintaining the convictions were admissible under Rules 404(a)(2) and 405(b), SCRE. R. 18-19. They wanted the jury to hear that the victim

had a 1989 criminal sexual conduct second degree conviction (“CSC 2nd”) and a 2000 assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature conviction (“ABHAN”) to show the victim had a propensity for violence in order to strengthen the Appellant’s case for self-defense. R. 463-464. They also argued that remoteness was not a factor under Rule 404(a)(1), SCRE. R. 464-465. The judge quickly excluded the ABHAN after learning no one in the Volstromer family knew about it until after the shooting. R. 463-472. However, the Volstromers knew about the CSC because Barbara had found it on the Lexington Public Index about a month prior to the incident. R. 478.

The parties discussed *State v. Brown*, 321 S.C. 184, 467 S.E.2d 922 (1996), *State v. Day*, 341 S.C. 410, 535 S.E.2d 431 (2000), and *State v. Mekler*, 379 S.C. 12, 664 S.E.2d 477 (2008) during their CSC 2nd arguments. R. 466-471. To counter the defense, the State argued that if the Supreme Court of South Carolina did not allow a twenty-three-year-old conviction to come in in *Brown*, a twenty-six-year-old conviction would definitely be excluded. R. 468. (In *Brown*, the defendant wanted to introduce evidence of the victim’s twenty-three-year-old manslaughter conviction to prove he had a reasonable apprehension of violence from the victim in a “it’s either self-defense or homicide” case. R. 467-468.) The State asked about the correlation in the present case because there had been no testimony that the shooting was of a sexual nature, pointing out that *Brown* held that other instances of violence on the part of the deceased were not admissible *unless* they were directed against the defendant or were so closely connected in time to reasonably indicate the state of mind of the deceased. R. 468-469.

The State pointed out that the prior incidents admitted into evidence in both *State v. Day*, and *State v. Mekler* occurred only a few months before the charges for which each defendant was on trial. R. 470-471, R. 298-299. The trial court asked the defense, “How do these charges establish self-defense? . . . “You’ve got to think about the reason [they are] coming in.” R. 471-

472. “I don’t know how she [Barbara] can testify she knew he had a propensity for violence because of a CSC. Now if this was a rape case and she saw him approach someone . . . then maybe she could say well I know he is well known for raping women. But that is not the case here.” R. 472.

The defense argued the CSC conviction was relevant because they would introduce testimony showing the victim’s 16-year-old daughter had been molested when she was younger by a neighbor, who was currently friends with Appellant. R. 473. They argued the new connection “refreshed” the conviction, even though the Volstromers never reported the alleged assault to the police. R. 473, R. 475. They also argued there was an incident where the victim took photos of the 16-year-old in public, and on the incident date in question told Barbara Volstromer she was “cute.” No other evidence was presented in support of admission. R. 477.

The trial judge held, “It is not even related,” and pointed out, again, the remoteness. R. 473-474. She also pointed out the fact that the daughter was not present during the shooting. R. 476. “There’s no evidence to support anything sexual.” R. 475-476.⁵ She then said the daughter was not outside at the time and there was no discussion of anything sexual. R. 475-476. The court concluded by making a finding that the conviction was too remote to come in and there was no correlation because there “is no sexual allegation here.” “The probative value of it coming in would be to determine . . . state of mind for purposes of self-defense, and the CSC

⁵ The court continued: “Y[ou] want to add the layer that this victim had recently started hanging out with this neighbor that previously assaulted the defendant’s daughter, who was on the actual scene, even though she was at the house, actual scene of the confrontation, and that this man that this lady says he is hanging out with and the victim are hanging out, whose name has not been brought up in the whole trial. You are talking about a random person, and we have nothing to support that the victim was with this person at any point in time.” R. 476

[was] not related in any way to the murder charge and the allegations in [it.]” R. 479; R. 546-547.⁶

The incident would have to be so closely connected at the point of time or occasion with the homicide that it would reasonably indicate the state of mind of the deceased or produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm. R. 301.

The trial court later renewed its ruling after the defense renewed its objection. R. 545-547. The court again said, “There is no connection. They were not fighting about Pruitt coming onto the property but over a fence in the road and who owned the property.” R. 546. The trial court did, however, allow the defense to introduce some of “the prior difficulties” between the victim and the Appellant that occurred in the year prior to the shooting. R. 547.

PRIOR DIFFICULTIES

May 29, 2015 Incident: R. 292, R. 566-567

The victim was sitting in his truck in the church parking lot across the street from the Volstromer’s property when Barbara Volstromer came up to him and they exchanged words. He told her he was going to rain hell down on her, and that he was the devil. R. 566-567. The Volstromer’s daughter took photos of him, and he took photos right back. The police were called. R. 292, R. 567. Barbara reported they installed the surveillance system after this incident. R. 571.

⁶ The court allowed the defense to proffer Barbara Volstromer’s testimony about the victim’s CSC conviction in camera and put their arguments on the record. R. 500-501; R. 516-533. They argued it was admissible under Rules 404(a)(2) and 405(b), SCRE, because it went to the Appellant’s state of mind and his family’s fears and spoke to why he felt he needed to defend himself. R. 473. They argued the jury needed to know about it in order to accurately assess the mind and reasonableness of the Appellant’s actions because of the alleged assault of the Appellant’s daughter by one of the victim’s associates. They maintained that because the charge was a crime of violence, it was a pertinent trait offered by the accused and was relevant to their assessment of danger, as Appellant argued he acted in self-defense. R. 301.

September 1, 2015 Incident: R. 291, R. 571-573

Barbara called the police and reported that Pruitt and his friends were riding up and down Megan Court on their four-wheelers revving their engines and shining flashlights onto her property. R. 571. Pruitt reportedly told her, “You don’t know who you are dealing with.” R. 293, R. 572-573. The Volstromers reportedly decided to move after this occurred. R. 573.

December 20, 2015 Incident, R. 579

Someone rode by the Volstromer’s house, and the microphone captured someone saying, “Die.” R. 579; Defense Exhibit 19. Appellant also reportedly heard gunshots, but he did not know who had fired a weapon or where they were when they fired it. R. 694.

B. The Applicable S.C. Rules of Evidence Do Not Authorize Admission of the Conviction

The defense cited Rules 404 and 405, SCRE, in attempting to justify the admission of the CSC conviction. The relevant part of Rule 404 here – (a)(2) – limits admissible character evidence to only that of a victim when offered by an accused to show the victim acted in conformity therewith on the particular occasion in question. However, evidence admissible under Rule 404(a)(2) is *still* subject to the Rule 403 balancing test: the offering party must show the probative value is not substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect, *State v. Garner*, 304 S.C. 220, 403 S.E.2d 631 (1991). It is also subject to that of Rule 405(b), SCRE: the offering party must prove the trait of character offered is an *essential element* of a charge, claim, or defense in order for the “proof,” or, conviction, to be admissible.

The twenty-six-year-old CSC 2nd degree conviction of the victim’s does not pass any of these tests. First, it does not pass 404(a)(2). A criminal sexual conduct second degree conviction is not in any way the same or similar as a murder charge with no sexual component. The defense

argued it showed a “propensity for violence” but argues “violence” in a general, overly broad sense. How could a decades-old CSC conviction show the victim acted in conformity therewith on the day of the shooting? The Appellant and his family did not know the details of the CSC – they only knew it was a felony. Were they attempting to prove he acted sexually violent on the day in question by moving it in? No. Therefore, they could not offer the conviction to prove conforming conduct under 404(a)(2).

The conviction also fails Rule 403, but the trial court did not discuss the rule in depth, so Respondent chooses not to discuss it here in depth. It just bears mentioning that the prejudicial effect on the victim far outweighed any probative value. It finally, and also, fails Rule 405(b). The defense would have had to prove the trait of character the prior conviction would highlight was an essential element of the charge or of his defense in order for the conviction to be admissible. The Appellant claimed self-defense, so the conviction would have to somehow show the victim brought on the difficulty, caused a reasonable person of ordinary courage to fear great bodily harm or death, as well as the other elements of self-defense. *State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (2011). A really old sexual conviction of the victim’s does not directly prove the Appellant was compelled to act to defend himself during a verbal argument over a property line. How does it prove he was actually in fear for his life or that of a member of his family? The victim did not present a weapon and did not even cross over onto the Appellant’s property at any point. Only words were exchanged until Appellant fired and killed the victim.

The defense cited *State v. Amburgey* (decided before the Rules of Evidence were established) to show the victim’s prior conviction was wrongly excluded. *State v. Amburgey*, 206 S.C. 426, 34 S.E.2d 779 (1945); IBOA at 12; *see also State v. Brown*, 321 S.C. at 187, 467 S.E.2d at 923-924. However, *Amburgey* only underscores how the trial court here was correct.

“The rule has long been established in this State that evidence of other specific instances of violence on the part of the deceased are not admissible *unless*:

- 1. They were directed against the defendant; or
- 2. If directed against others, were so closely connected in point of time or occasion with the homicide as reasonably to indicate the state of mind of the deceased at the time of the homicide; or
- 3. To produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm.”

Amburgey, 206 S.C. at 429, 34 S.E.2d at 780; *State v. Day*, 341 S.C. 410, 419-420, 535 S.E.2d 431, 436 (2000) (emphasis added.)

The CSC in question was not directed against the defendant. Therefore, the defense would have to prove that a twenty-six-year-old CSC conviction (of which the defendant and his wife knew no details) would have either been so closely connected that it would have reasonably shown the mind of the victim *or* would have produced reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm. The trial court followed this roadmap and made specific rulings on the record that the defense failed to meet their burden on any of the elements. The defense argued the conviction caused the Appellant and his wife to be afraid of the victim, which may be true; but it would not create fear of great bodily injury or death in an ordinary person of reasonable fitness or courage at the particular moment in time, even combined with the other incidents between the parties in the months before the incident. It was a verbal argument at which the victim presented no weapon, made no threats, and did not advance on Appellant. This Court should affirm.

C. The Defense Did Not Sufficiently Connect the Conviction to the State of Mind of the Appellant Before the Killing to Justify Admission

“The conduct, actions, and general demeanor of the accused immediately before the killing are admissible to show that he was in a vicious humor” as his frame of mind at the time of the homicide bears greatly upon the issue in the case. *State v. Gregory*, 127 S.C. 87, 120 S.E. 499, 503 (1923). The same rule applies as to the temper of the victim at the time of the homicide.

State v. Miller, 73 S.C. 277, 53 S.E. 426 (1906). However, as stated above, in order to introduce prior convictions to show the temper of the victim was a certain temperature or the defendant acted because he thought the temper of the victim was a certain temperature (due to his knowledge of the conviction, of course), the defendant must prove the conviction is “sufficiently connected in time and circumstances to be submitted as evidence to the jury.” *State v. Peak*, 134 S.C. at 329, 133 S.E. at 35. The trial judge is in the best position to make these assessments, and

It is difficult to fix any time within which such testimony shall be admitted or excluded. This has to be left largely to the discretion of the trial judge, and his discretion will not be disturbed, unless it is manifest that there has been an abuse of his discretion to the prejudice of the accused.

State v. Peak, 134 S.C. 329, 133 S.E. 31, 34 (1926).

State v. Peak provides an excellent example of the type of victim conduct our Supreme Court has contemplated meets the spirit of admissibility in Rules 404 and 405. In *Peak*, the jury convicted the defendant of voluntary manslaughter instead of murder because evidence was introduced that the victim had so badly beaten up the defendant to his shame **shortly before** that fundamental fairness dictated the jury hear about it: (*Id.*)

The jury might have concluded, and from their verdict apparently did conclude, that as a result of what took place on the road not long before the homicide, the appellant went home, and under the pretext of hunting for a cow, got his gun and took a number of shells, and went hunting for the deceased, and killed him; and by their verdict they found that the appellant had not had time within which to cool, and, while smarting under what had recently taken place, took the life of the deceased.

Peak, 133 S.E. at 35.

State v. Brown, however – a case discussed at length at Appellant’s trial – provides an example of conduct **far too remote** to be admissible. *State v. Brown*, 321 S.C. 184 (1996). The defense in *Brown* attempted to admit a twenty-three-year-old voluntary manslaughter conviction in a murder case and our Supreme Court upheld the trial court’s decision to keep it out. They decided the conviction was far too remote to logically show the defendant’s state of mind or to

prove he had a reasonable apprehension of violence from the victim. *Brown*, 321 S.C. at 187, 467 S.E.2d at 924. The same is true here of the victim’s twenty-six-year-old conviction.

“Whether a specific instance of conduct by the deceased is closely connected in point of time or occasion to the homicide so as to be admissible is in the judge’s discretion” and will not be disturbed on appeal absent “an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to the accused.” *State v. Peak*, 133 S.E. at 34. This Court should affirm the trial court’s use of discretion.

Other Examples

- **FOUR MONTHS: ADMISSIBLE** - *State v. Day*, 341 S.C. 410, 416-417, 535 S.E.2d 431, 434-435 (2000) (holding a four-months-previous act of violence of the victim was admissible because evidence was sufficient to show the petitioner believed he was in imminent danger of being shot by the victim. He believed the victim had figured out he did not actually murder his lover as planned; murder conviction reversed and remanded. The victim had held a double-barrel shotgun to the petitioner’s head for hours and forced him to drive around four months prior.)
- **LESS THAN THREE MONTHS: ADMISSIBLE** - *State v. Meckler*, 368 S.C. 1, 14, 626 S.E.2d 890, 897 (Ct. App. 2005) (holding evidence an appellant was aware of a victim’s prior act of violence (which occurred less than three months before the murder) was admissible to show the victim’s state of mind and to show the appellant had a reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm from the victim).

D. Appellant Did Not Prove the Danger Was Reasonably Apparent

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